IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD A. NEWSOME, JR.,)

#1194269,)

Appellant,)

v.)

STATE OF NEVADA,)

Respondent.)

Electronically Filed
Jan 20 2022 12:46 p.m.

CASE NO.: 83475 Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

E-FILE

D.C. Case: C-17-321043-1

Dept.: IX

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

**Appeal from the denial of a Post Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000854
Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson
624 South 9th Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0001
Terry.jackson.esq@gmail.com

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Nevada Bar No. 001565
Clark County District Attorney

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an Appeal from the denial of Defendant's Post Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

1. Whether the District Court erred in finding the Defendant's Post Conviction Petition should be procedurally barred;

...

A. Whether the Defendant demonstrated sufficient good cause and prejudice to overcome any procedural bars;

B. Whether applying procedural bars in this case resulted in a fundamental miscarriage of justice;

2. Whether the District Court erred when it did not find defense counsel had a prejudicial conflict of interest in simultaneous representing the Defendant and his mother;

3. Whether the District Court erred in not finding defense counsel was ineffective under *Strickland* for failing to do an adequate investigation and preparation before Defendant pled guilty;

4. Whether the District Court erred by finding the plea canvas was sufficient in itself to establish Defendant's guilty plea was valid as a knowing, voluntary and intelligent plea;

5. Whether the District Court erred in denying Defendant an evidentiary hearing to show ineffective assistance of counsel and to show Defendant had good cause to overcome all procedural bars to habeas corpus relief;

6. Whether the accumulation of Error in this case requires reversal of Defendant's conviction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Defendant was represented by attorneys John Momot and Yi Len Zheng who also represented the Defendant's co-defendant, Tiana Douglas, who was the Defendant's mother. The facts show a clear and prejudicial conflict of interest because of this dual representation by counsel. The purported waiver of any conflict by the Defendant was not an intelligent or voluntary waiver.

The District Court erred by not recognizing the obvious conflict of interest. The District Court also clearly erred in finding that Defendant's petition should be procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 as untimely, and as successive, NRS 34.810. Defendant however demonstrated sufficient good cause and prejudice to overcome any procedural bars raised by the State. *See*, NRS 34.726.

When the District Court erred by applying procedural bars in this case, Defendant was so gravely prejudiced that it resulted in a "fundamental miscarriage of justice." *See, Pellegrini v. State*, 117 Nev. 860 (2001) and *Bejarano v. State*, 131 Nev. ___, 146 P.3d 265 (2006). His attorney's conflict of interest prevented him from showing actual innocence to the second degree murder charge.

The District Court should have recognized the obvious conflict of interest of defense counsel representing both Defendant and co-defendant, his mother, was so

prejudicial that Defendant could not receive effective assistance of counsel or due process. The Court should have found that the purported 'waiver' of the conflict was invalid because the Defendant was not sophisticated enough to understand the legal problems which would arise from the joint legal defense with his mother and with the same attorneys representing each of them. The Court at the plea hearing did not even attempt to do any canvas about the risks and difficulties inherent in the dual legal representation by Mr. Momot. (A.A. 130-135)

When the Defendant and his mother pled guilty, the District Court also failed to scrutinize the negotiation(s) and failed to scrutinize carefully whether the Defendant's guilty plea was valid. The guilty plea canvas was woefully inadequate because of the unique circumstances the conflict created and therefore did not protect the Defendant from an unintelligent and involuntary plea.

The District Court then wrongfully ignored these errors which were addressed in the Defendant's Habeas Corpus Petition and then even denied a necessary evidentiary hearing on the conflict of interest question and on the issues surrounding defense counsel's pretrial investigation and preparation. (A.A. 237)

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellant claims jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(3).

Defendant filed timely Notice of Appeal pursuant to statute on September 2, 2021, within the thirty (30) day time limit established by the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 4(b). This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal on a post-conviction Petition involving a class A felony, second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1), because this case involves a class A felony, which resulted in a sentence of ten years to life imprisonment, it should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING DEFENDANT'S PETITION SHOULD HAVE BEEN PROCEDURALLY BARRED;**
 - A. Whether Defendant can demonstrate good cause and prejudice for any delay in filing his Petition;
 - B. Whether applying procedural bars in this case resulted in a fundamental miscarriage of justice;
- II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THE SIMULTANEOUS REPRESENTATION BY DEFENSE COUNSEL OF THE**

DEFENDANT AND CO-DEFENDANT, WHO WAS THE DEFENDANT'S MOTHER, LED TO PREJUDICIALLY INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR THE DEFENDANT;

- III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING DEFENSE COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE PREPLEA BECAUSE THEY HAD NOT ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATED AND PREPARED AS REQUIRED BY *STRICKLAND* v. *WASHINGTON*;
- IV. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S PLEA CANVAS WAS ADEQUATE TO ESTABLISH DEFENDANT'S PLEA OF GUILTY WAS FREELY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY MADE AND NOT TAINTED OR INFLUENCED BY HIS ATTORNEYS' CONFLICT OF INTEREST;
- V. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT AN ADEQUATE EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO SHOW INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND TO SHOW HIS PETITION SHOULD NOT BE BARRED;
- VI. WHETHER THE ACCUMULATION OF ERROR REQUIRES REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.

...

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 2, 2017, Defendant Richard Newsome, Jr. (hereinafter “Defendant”) was charged with the following: Count 1 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category A Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165); Count 2 - Assault With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.471). (A.A. 03, 04s)

On December 14, 2017, Defendant pled guilty to one count of Second-Degree Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon. (A.A. 129-135) His co-defendant, Tianna Michelle Douglas, pled guilty on the same day to gross misdemeanor charges of accessory to murder. (A.A. 135-139)

On February 8, 2018, Defendant received a sentence of 10 years to life in the Nevada Department of Corrections. (A.A. 126-128) The Judgment of Conviction was filed on March 5, 2018. (A.A. 101-102) The co-defendant, Tianna Michelle Douglas, was sentenced to a term of 364 days in jail. (A.A. 102, 127)

On February 1, 2019, Defendant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (“First Petition”), Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (“Supplement”), Motion for Appointment of Counsel (“Motion”), and Request for an Evidentiary Hearing (“Request”). On May 1, 2019, the State filed a response to Defendant’s First

Petition, Supplement, Motion, and Request. On May 28, 2019, this Court denied Defendant's First Petition, Supplement, Motion, and Request for an Evidentiary Hearing. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were filed on June 26, 2019. On July 13, 2020, the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's denial of Defendant's First Petition. *Newsome v. State*, No. 79044-COA (Order of Affirmance, July 13, 2020) (A.A. 145-147) Remittitur issued on August 10, 2020. (A.A. 149)

After a second Habeas Petition had been denied, on March 9, 2021, Defendant filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence. (A.A.150-156) On March 31, 2021, Terrence M. Jackson, Esq., confirmed as counsel. (A.A.157) On April 20, 2021, the State filed its Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence. (A.A.158-163) On June 2, 2021, Defendant filed Supplemental Points and Authorities in Support of Writ of Habeas Corpus for Post Conviction Relief ("Third Habeas Petition"). (A.A. 164-181) The State filed a Response to the Writ on July 7, 2021. (A.A. 182-205)

On July 23, 2021, Defendant filed a Reply to the State's Response. (A.A. 206-210) After a hearing on August 4, 2021, the District Court denied Defendant's Petition for Habeas Corpus, issuing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order,

on August 20, 2021. (A.A. 211-224) On September 2, 2021, Defendant filed Notice of Appeal. (A.A. 226-227)

FACTUAL STATEMENT

The Defendant, Richard A. Newsome, was arrested and charged with murder with the use of a deadly weapon and assault with a deadly weapon with substantial bodily harm. He pled guilty to the charge of second degree murder on December 14, 2017.

A competent defense investigation could have established that there existed a viable defense to both charges in the Grand Jury Indictment, because of the Defendant's lack of the necessary intent to commit second degree murder and the other crimes in the original Indictment.

Defendant believes the facts show that there was a reasonable doubt as to his guilt to the charge of second degree murder. However, despite the facts which may have shown a reasonable doubt as to Defendant's guilt, counsel for Defendant, John J. Momot and Yi Lin Zheng, persuaded Defendant to plead guilty to a negotiated plea of second degree murder. Defendant entered this plea of guilty, while he was not fully aware of his rights, including his right to a jury trial. (A.A. 129-135) He did not know how he could assert his Sixth Amendment rights by going to trial because of lack of

competent, conflict free advice.

Defendant was sentenced on February 8, 2018, to a term of life with a minimum of ten years plus a consecutive term of 240 months with minimum parole in ten years. (A.A. 100-101, 126) The co-defendant, Tianna Michelle Douglas, aka Tianna Michelle Thomas, was the Defendant's mother. She also entered a negotiated plea in this case to a lesser charge, i.e., accessory to murder, a gross misdemeanor. She was also represented by the same counsel as the Defendant, John J. Momot and Yi Lin Zheng. She was sentenced to 364 days in jail. (A.A. 102)

These facts show that the representation of the Defendant and the co-defendant on these serious charges, under these circumstances, created an actual and substantial conflict of interest for attorneys John J. Momot and Yi Lin Zheng. This conflict caused them to render ineffective assistance of counsel for Defendant, Richard A. Newsome, Jr.

Although there was a purported Waiver of Actual or Potential Conflict of Interest, filed on February 16, 2017, (A.A. 11-13), it is respectfully submitted this purported waiver it was not a valid or a knowing and intelligent waiver because of the fact that the Defendant, Richard A. Newsome, Jr., did not have independent legal advice. He did not fully understand the waiver or understand the consequences of the

waiver. Defendant could not understand how the waiver might affect his future rights.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY WRONGFULLY DISMISSING DEFENDANT’S PETITION ON THE GROUND IT WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

A. Whether the Defendant Demonstrated Good Cause and Prejudice Sufficient to Overcome Any Procedural Bars.

At the Evidentiary Hearing Defendant argued that although his Petition was filed beyond the statutory time bar of NRS 34.726, it was filed within a “reasonable time” after the basis for the claim became evident. (A.A. 164-181) In *Rippo v. State*, 122 Nev. 1086, 368 P.3d 729 (2016), the Nevada Supreme Court discussing procedural bars and the need for finality in criminal cases stated the circumstances of when procedural default would be excused, saying: . . .

Rippo’s petition was not filed within that time period. To excuse the delay in filing the petition, *Rippo* had to demonstrate good cause for the delay. NRS 34.726(1). A showing of good cause for the delay has two components: (1) that the delay was not the petitioner’s fault and (2) that “dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.” *Id.*

The first component of the cause standard under NRS 34.726(1) requires a showing that “an impediment external to the defense” prevented the petitioner from filing the petition within the time constraints provided by the statute. *Clem*, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 525; *Hathaway*, 119 Nev. at 252, 71 P.3d at 506. “A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available at the time of any default.” *Clem*, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 525; *see also Hathaway*, 119 Nev. at 252, 71 P.3d at 506. (Emphasis added)

...

Defendant respectfully submits that in this case, as opposed to *Rippo*, he could demonstrate good cause for any delay. His delay in this case was not intentional. It resulted principally from his lack of legal sophistication and his inability to obtain counsel immediately after conviction.

Other equitable factors in this case clearly outweigh the State’s interests in finality and the protection against “stale” claims. In this case the Defendant’s conviction is fundamentally unfair and ‘manifestly unjust’ and therefore must be set aside. The hearing established numerous impediments which existed that prevented Defendant Richard Newsome from completing a timely habeas petition, including his initial lack of post-conviction counsel and his lack of legal sophistication.

Most importantly, the issue of Defendant’s factual innocence is the most

important exception to the procedural bar of NRS 34.726.1. *See, Boyd v. Thompson*, 147 F.3d 1124 (9th Cir.1998). This narrow exception to the procedural bar is reserved for extraordinary cases. *Sawyer v. Whitley*, 505 U.S. 333, 340 (1992); *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478 (1986).

Defendant respectfully claims his case was one of those extraordinary cases where a narrow exception to procedural bars was necessary to ensure that justice is done. Defendant submits he established enough equitable factors also existed which precluded his Petition in this case from being time barred. Especially important was the conflict of interest his attorneys had in representing the Defendant while also representing the co-defendant. This conflict of interest was a due process violation that must be addressed.

...

B. The District Court Erred by not Finding That Applying Procedural Bars Would Result in a Fundamental Miscarriage of Justice.

The Court ignored all the equities which compelled considering the merits of his Habeas Petition. It is respectfully submitted even though Defendant's Petition was untimely, procedurally barring his Petition in this case resulted in a fundamental miscarriage of justice.

NRS 34.726(1) provides that a post-conviction habeas petition challenging the validity of a judgment of conviction must be filed within one year after this court issues the remittitur from a timely direct appeal. NRS 34.810(1)(b) provides that a post-conviction habeas petition must be dismissed where the defendant's conviction was the result of a trial and his claims could have been raised either before the trial court, on direct appeal in a previous petition, or in any other proceeding. And NRS 34.810(2) provides that a *second or successive petition must be dismissed* if the defendant fails to allege new or different grounds and the prior petition was decided on its merits or if the defendant's failure to assert those grounds in the prior petition constituted an "abuse of the writ."

However, procedure default will be excused if the petitioner established both good cause for the default and prejudice. NRS 34.726(1), NRS 38.810(3). Good cause for failing to file a timely petition or raise a claim in a previous proceeding may be established where the factual or legal basis for the claim was not necessarily available. *Harris v. Warden*, 114 Nev. 956, 959, 964 P.2d 785, 787.

Even absent a showing of good cause, this court will consider a claim if the petitioner can demonstrate that applying procedural bars would result in a fundamental miscarriage of justice. *Bejarano v. State*, 131 Nev. ___, 146 P.3d 265, 270 (Nev. 2006). See, *State v. Bennett*, 119

Nev. 589, 597-98, 81 P.2d 1, 7 (2003), *Leslie v. Warden*, 118 Nev. 773, 780, 59 P.3d 440, 445 (2002). (Emphasis added)

...

What could be more fundamental than having a deeply conflicted counsel in a murder case? Would the Defendant have entered the plea of guilty he did if he had counsel who was representing only him, not him and his mother? This Writ should not be barred by strict procedural rules because in this case the harm of the prior attorney's failure to provide conflict free representation must be litigated.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING THE DUAL, SIMULTANEOUS REPRESENTATION BY COUNSEL OF THE DEFENDANT AND THE CODEFENDANT, HIS MOTHER, WAS IMPROPER AND CREATED A GRAVE CONFLICT WHICH SEVERELY PREJUDICED DEFENDANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

It is respectfully submitted the dual representation by counsel of the Defendant and his co-defendant, Tianna M. Douglas, violated his Fifth Amendment right to due process of law. *Townsend v. Sain*, 372 U.S. 293 (1963)

Defendant submits the law is clear that when the defense counsel has a conflict

of interest when representing the Defendant, it is very difficult for the Defendant to receive effective assistance of counsel. Many cases have recognized that an actual conflict, such as existed in this case, will create such a prejudice to the Defendant that it mandates reversal. *See, Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335 (1980); *see also, Glasser v. United States*, 315 U.S. 60 (1942).

The mere fact there was a purported waiver of the conflict by the Defendant in this case, which was signed by the Defendant, is irrelevant. It is respectfully submitted the purported “waiver of actual/potential conflict,” signed February 16, 2017, was not valid. (A.A. 11-13) It was prepared by attorney John Momot. It was not a document that should be considered sufficient by itself to establish that the Defendant’s actual consent to waive the inherent conflict of interest of joint representation. It is clear it was not a knowing, voluntary, or intelligent waiver of the conflict of interest. *See, Armstrong v. Warden*, 90 Nev. 5, 518 P.2d 147 (1974).

A review of the totality of the facts and circumstances establish that the Defendant must have felt extraordinary pressure to agree with his own mother’s choice of an attorney. He was only seventeen years old. His mother, Tianna Michelle Douglas, aka Tianna Michelle Thomas, who he loved dearly, was his co-defendant. It is apparent that she obviously wanted him, the Defendant, to go along with her

choice of attorney. She also wanted him to go along with the plea bargain that defense counsel arranged for both of his clients.

The Defendant was therefore in an impossible dilemma which was created by his counsel. Rather than scrupulously protect his client's right to have a counsel that was not burdened by an enormous conflict, the defense counsel instead arranged to have the Defendant sign a "waiver of actual/potential conflict."

The constitution scrupulously protects the due process of defendants and protects a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. The law has long held that the State has the burden of establishing that any waiver of a fundamental right, such as the right to conflict free representation in a multi-defendant case. This right is inherent in the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

In the case of *People v. Castro*, 657 P.2d 932 (1983), the court noted:

" . . . As in the case of other constitutional rights, an accused may waive his rights to conflict-free representation. The burden of affirmatively demonstrating a waiver of such a fundamental rights rests upon the prosecution and will not be presumed from a silent record."

See, e.g., Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981); *Brewer v. Williams*, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977); *Carnley v. Cochran*, 369 U.S. 506, 82 S.Ct. 884, 8 L.Ed.2d 70 (1962);

Von Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 68 S.Ct. 316, 92 L.Ed. 309 (1948); *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). *Id.* 944 (Emphasis added)

...

Defendant urges this Court to find the State did not show that the purported waiver of conflict in this case was valid. This Court should find that the Defendant did not receive effective assistance of counsel because his attorney could not effectively represent both defendants in this serious felony case. The Court must further find that the Defendant was gravely prejudiced by the conflict of interest of his attorney. This case must therefore be reversed.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE UNDER *STRICKLAND* FOR FAILING TO DO THE NECESSARY INVESTIGATION AND PREPARATION PREPLEA.

A. Defense Counsel was Ineffective Under *Strickland* for Failing to do All Necessary Investigation Preplea.

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