#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD A. NEWSOME, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Feb 22 2022 01:21 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 83475

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

#### Appeal From Denial of Post Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar #000854 Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson 624 South 9th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0001

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant's Third Petition is procedurally barred as it is untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ. Given that the application of the procedural bars is mandatory, the district court properly deemed the Petition as time-barred. Appellant failed to overcome the procedural defaults because he failed to establish good cause and prejudice. Appellant attempted to demonstrate good cause and prejudice by claiming his lack of knowledge and inability to obtain post-conviction counsel. These claims do not constitute good cause as a matter of law.

Because Appellant cannot establish good cause and prejudice, his time-barred Petition must be dismissed without consideration of its claims, including his allegation that a fundamental miscarriage of justice would result if his claims are not heard. Appellant also fails to substantiate this. Accordingly, his claims are barred from consideration.

Even if Appellant's substantive claims were to be heard, they would still fail. Appellant asserts several ineffective assistance of counsel claims. First, Appellant alleges he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel represented both him and his codefendant. Appellant wrongly assumes that the mere fact that his counsel represented both defendants establishes an actual conflict of interest. Appellant signed a waiver and acknowledged he did so voluntarily, knowingly and understandingly waive, any potential and/or actual conflict, which may arise out of our joint and simultaneous representation by counsel.

Second, Appellant asserts counsel performed insufficient investigation, did not hire experts, and spent insufficient time with him. This claim fails procedurally and on the merits. Because Appellant's convictions are the result of a guilty plea, he is only permitted to raise allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel that challenge the validity of his guilty plea. NRS 34.810(1)(a). Appellant has failed to cogently argue that the alleged errors of his counsel invalidated his guilty plea. Further, Appellant asserted in his executed GPA and at the plea canvass that he discussed his case, including defenses and possible strategies with counsel. Appellant failed to meet the Strickland prongs.

Appellant again claims his plea was invalid. This claim has already been decided on the merits and thus this claim is barred under the law of the case doctrine.

Appellant's also raises a claim regarding a denial of an evidentiary hearing. This

claim also fails on the merits because Appellant fails to specify facts establishing good cause and prejudice or fundamental miscarriage of justice. His substantive claims are similarly plead in a vague and conclusive manner insufficient to warrant post-conviction relief. Lastly, Appellant's claim of cumulative error fails as it is barred from consideration as Appellant raises this claim for the first time on appeal. Further, the claims he attempts to cumulate are ineffective assistance of counsel claims, which cannot be cumulated. Even if they could, there are no error to cumulate. Thus, this Court should affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Third Petition.

## **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S THIRD PETITION AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

The Third Petition is untimely under NRS 34.726, and therefore its claims cannot be considered in the absence of a showing of good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.726(1) requires a petitioner to challenge the validity of his judgment or sentence within one year from the entry of judgment of conviction or the issuance of remittitur from his direct appeal.

This one-year time limit is strictly applied and begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or remittitur issues from a timely filed direct appeal.

Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873-74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001); Dickerson v.

State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133-34 (1998). "Application of the

statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," and "cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State." State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 231 & 233, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074–75 (2005). For example, in Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002) the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition filed two days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the Notice within the one-year time limit. Absent a showing of good cause and prejudice, courts have no discretion regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars.

Here, Appellant's Judgment of Conviction was filed on March 5, 2018, and Appellant did not file a direct appeal. Appellant then had until March 5, 2019 to timely file a petition for writ of habeas corpus. However, he filed the underlying Third Petition on June 2, 2021, more than two years after the one-year deadline of NRS 34.726. Accordingly, absent a showing of good cause and prejudice, that will be discussed below, the Third Petition was properly and mandatorily denied as untimely.

# **Petition is Successive**

Appellant has twice previously sought post-conviction relief, and therefore the Third Petition is successive. NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2); NRS 34.810(2). "Successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition." Ford v. Warden,

111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). Courts are required to dismiss successive post-conviction petitions if a prior petition was decided on the merits and a petitioner fails to raise new grounds for relief, or if a petitioner does raise new grounds for relief but failure to assert those grounds in any prior petition was an abuse of the writ. NRS 34.810(2); See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. Successive petitions will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause and prejudice for failing to raise the new grounds in their first petition. NRS 34.810(3); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994). If a claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition. McClesky v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 497-98, 111 S.Ct. 1454, 1472 (1991).

The Third Petition must be denied as successive. Appellant raises three substantive claims: (1) that his plea counsel was conflicted; (2) that his plea counsel rendered ineffective assistance through insufficient investigation and preparation; (3) and that his guilty plea was not entered voluntarily. The first two claims were previously available to Appellant to raise in his previous petitions, and therefore his failure to assert these claims previously is an abuse of the writ. NRS 34.810(2). Because these claims could have been raised in either of his previous petitions, the district court properly found these claims were summarily dismissed in the absence of good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.810(b)(1)(2). Further, Appellant's claim that

his guilty plea was not voluntarily entered was also raised in his First Petition, and this claim was denied on its merits. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed June 26, 2019, 1 RA at 205-208. Accordingly, this claim was properly found summarily dismissed. NRS 34.810(2).

## **Application of Procedural Bars are Mandatory**

The Nevada Supreme Court has specifically found that the district court has a duty to consider whether the procedural bars apply to a post-conviction petition and not arbitrarily disregard them. In Riker, the Court held that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," and "cannot be ignored when properly raised by the State." 121 Nev. at 231–33, 112 P.3d at 1074–75. Ignoring these procedural bars is considered an arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of discretion. Id. at 234, 112 P.3d at 1076. Riker justified this holding by noting that "[t]he necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final." <u>Id.</u> at 231, 112 P.3d 1074 (citation omitted); see also State v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 180-81, 69 P.3d 676, 681-82 (2003) (holding that parties cannot stipulate to waive, ignore or disregard the mandatory procedural default rules nor can they empower a court to disregard them). In State v. Greene, 129 Nev. 559, 566, 307 P.3d 322, 326 (2013) the Nevada Supreme Court reaffirmed its prior holdings that the procedural default rules are mandatory when it reversed the district court's grant of a postconviction petition for

writ of habeas corpus. There, the Court ruled that the defendant's petition was untimely and successive, and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. <u>Id.</u> Accordingly, the Court reversed the district court and ordered the defendant's petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. <u>Id.</u> at 567, 307 P.3d at 327.

Being that Appellant's Petition is untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ and the procedural bars are mandatory, the district court properly found the Petition procedurally barred.

# a. The district court properly found Appellant failed to show good cause to overcome the procedural bars

Appellant failed to demonstrate the requisite good cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural bars to his Petition. This Court may only consider the merits of the Third Petition if Appellant establishes both good cause and prejudice for the delay in filing and the successive nature of his claims. NRS 34.726(1)(a)-(b); NRS 34.810(3). Accordingly, the Third Petition was properly summarily denied.

Simply put, good cause is a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Appellant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to comply with the statutory requirements, *and* that he will be unduly prejudiced if the petition is dismissed. NRS 34.726(1)(a); see Hogan v. Warden,

109 Nev. 952, 959–60, 860 P.2d 710, 715–16 (1993); Phelps v. Nevada Dep't of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988). "A court *must* dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner." Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001) (emphasis added).

To show good cause, a petitioner must demonstrate the following: (1) "[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner" and (2) that the petitioner will be "unduly prejudice[d]" if the petition is dismissed as untimely. NRS 34.726. To meet the first requirement, "a petitioner *must* show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (emphasis added). "A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available at the time of default." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added). To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252, 71 P.3d at 506 (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

As the Third Petition is both untimely and successive, Appellant must overcome the procedural bars under both NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810. "In terms of a procedural time-bar, an adequate allegation of good cause would sufficiently explain why a petition was filed beyond the statutory time period." Harris v. State, 133 Nev. 683, 687, 407 P.3d 348, 352 (Nev. App. 2017) (quoting Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252-5371 P.3d 503, 506 (2003). To overcome the procedural bars against successive petitions, "NRS 34.810(3) requires the petitioner to plead and prove specific facts demonstrating good cause for a "failure to present the claim or for presenting the claim again" and actual prejudice." Nika v. State, 120 Nev. 600, 607, 97 P.3d 1140, 1145 (2004).

Further, a petitioner raising good cause to excuse procedural bars must do so within a reasonable time after the alleged good cause arises. See Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 869–70, 34 P.3d at 525–26 (holding that the time bar in NRS 34.726 applies to successive petitions); see generally Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252–53, 71 P.3d at 506–07 (stating that a claim reasonably available to the petitioner during the statutory time period did not constitute good cause to excuse a delay in filing). A claim that is itself procedurally barred cannot constitute good cause. Riker, 121 Nev. at 235, 112 P.3d at 1077; see also Edwards v. Carpenter, 529 U.S. 446, 453 120 S. Ct. 1587, 1592 (2000).

In order to establish prejudice, the defendant must show "not merely that the

errors of [the proceedings] created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional dimensions." <u>Hogan v. Warden</u>, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993) (quoting <u>United States v. Frady</u>, 456 U.S. 152, 170, 102 S. Ct. 1584, 1596 (1982)). As discussed more fully below, Appellant's claims are without merit. Accordingly, he has failed entirely to establish prejudice.

A petitioner "cannot rely on conclusory claims for relief but must plead and prove specific facts demonstrating good cause and actual prejudice." <u>State v. Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 184, 69 P.3d 676, 684 (2003), <u>as modified</u> (June 9, 2003). <u>See also NRS 34.810(3)</u>; <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 621, 28 P.3d 498, 507 (2001); <u>Bejarano v. Warden</u>, 112 Nev. 1466, 1471, 929 P.2d 922, 925 (1996).

Here, Appellant fails to meet his burden to plead and prove specific facts that would establish good cause. Appellant attempts to establish good cause by claiming his delay in filing was caused by "his lack of legal sophistication and his inability to obtain counsel immediately after conviction." Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 12. Appellant's attempt fails as the Nevada courts have repeatedly rejected such good cause claims.

A lack of legal training does not constitute good cause for filing a procedurally defaulted petition. Such a claim does not demonstrate an impediment external to the defense that prevented Appellant from complying with the procedural

bars. See Phelps v. Dir., Nev. Dep't of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 660, 764 P.2d 1303, 1306 (1988) (holding that petitioner's claim of organic brain damage, borderline mental retardation and poor legal assistance from inmate law clerks did not constitute good cause for the filing of a successive post-conviction petition). See also State v. Williams, 120 Nev. 473, 478, 93 P.3d 1258, 1261 (2004) (finding no good cause where petitioner claimed she could not have raised a post-conviction claim previously due to "its highly complex, esoteric, and scientific nature"). Further, Appellant's lack of legal sophistication did not prevent him from filing a timely First Petition, and thus Appellant's claim that his ignorance of the law caused the delay in filing is highly suspect.

Similarly, Appellant's lack of post-conviction counsel does not constitute good cause for filing an untimely and successive petition because he had no statutory right to post-conviction counsel. NRS 34.750(1). As such, the absence of post-conviction counsel cannot provide good cause for filing an untimely and successive petition. See Brown v. McDaniel, 130 Nev. 565, 569, 331 P.3d 867, 870 (2014) (concluding that claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel in noncapital cases do not constitute good cause for a successive petition because there is no statutory entitlement to postconviction counsel).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Although Appellant does not raise the issue here, in his Petition Appellant claimed good cause was created by the inadequacy of the prison law library. AA at 178. The alleged inadequacy does not establish good cause. See Monroe v. State, 422 P.3d

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